RECEIVED

Dec 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-42-03818
Case No. 2020-CP-42-03819
Appellate Case No. 2021-000681

Terry Putman, Individually and as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Margaret Hensley, Respondent,

v.

White Oak Estates, Inc.; White Oak Management, Inc.; and
White Oak Manor, Inc., Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Joshua T. Thompson, Esq.
Boulier Thompson & Barnes, LLC
P.O. Drawer 6470
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29304
Phone: (864) 606-9610
Email: jthompson@btblawfirm.com

Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY THE RIGOROUS STANDARDS REQUIRED IN FAVOR OF THE VALIDITY OF ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS.
2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ADMISSION AGREEMENT AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT DID NOT MERGE, BUT EVEN IF THEY DID NOT, VALUABLE CONSIDERATION SUPPORTS THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT.
3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IS UNENFORCEABLE BECAUSE IT IS UNCONSCIONABLE.
4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT DOES NOT APPLY TO THE WRONGFUL DEATH ACTION.
5. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT DOES NOT APPLY TO DEFENDANTS WHITE OAK ESTATES, INC. AND WHITE OAK MANOR, INC.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 2, 2020, Terry Putman (“Ms. Putman”), Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Margaret Hensley, brought these actions (consolidated for appeal) alleging wrongful death and survival claims against White Oak Estates, Inc., White Oak Management, Inc., and White Oak Manor, Inc. (R. p. 26 - 73). Defendants answered the complaints, alleging among other substantive defenses that Ms. Putman’s claims were subject to binding arbitration. (R. p. 74 – 87).

On February 19, 2021, Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss, Compel Arbitration, and For a Protective Order or, Alternatively, to Stay the Action Pending Arbitration as to both cases. (R. p. 88 – 135). The circuit court heard arguments on this motion on March 17, 2021, and thereafter requested the parties to submit draft orders. (R. p. 513 – 553; 557 – 558; 559 - 574).

On April 9, 2021, the circuit court issued its Order Regarding Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Compel Arbitration, and For a Protective Order or, Alternatively, to Stay the Action Pending Arbitration. The circuit court denied Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, and denied as moot Defendants’ Motion for a Protective Order or Alternatively, to Stay the Action Pending Arbitration. (R. p. 1 – 25).

On April 19, 2021, Defendants filed their Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. p. 491 – 494). On May 28, 2021, the circuit court issued its Final Order Regarding Motion for Reconsideration, denying the same. (R. p. 26 – 28).

This appeal timely followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Arbitrability determinations are subject to de novo review. Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014), citing Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc., 398 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2012). Although a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed if any evidence reasonably supports those factual findings, “the party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” Id., citing Green Tree Fin. Corp. Ala. v. Randolph, 531 U.S. 79, 91 (2000).

FACTS

Margaret Hensley (“Ms. Hensley”) granted her daughter Terry Putman a comprehensive Durable Power of Attorney (“POA”) on October 7, 2011. (R. p. 151 – 163). There is no allegation that this POA is not valid and effective, or that any of its terms should not be enforced.

The POA granted broad powers to Ms. Putman, delegating “each and every power

that I may lawfully delegate, subject only to those limitations specifically set forth in this instrument.” (R. p. 151). Article II (8) grants specific authority “to . . . arbitrate . . . all . . . rights to the payment of cash . . . and/or benefits to which I am now or may in the future become entitled.” (R. p. 152). The POA further authorizes Ms. Putman to “institute, supervise, prosecute, defend, intervene in, abandon, compromise, arbitrate, settle, dismiss and appeal from any and all legal, equitable, judicial, or administrative hearings, actions, suits, proceedings, attachments, arrests, or distresses involving me in any way.” (R. p. 153). Ms. Putman may also “grant releases to hospital staff, physicians, and other health care providers who act in reliance on instructions given by my Agent from all liability for damages suffered or to be suffered by me.” (R. p. 159).

Article V of the POA granted extensive authority to “perform any acts and things and to execute and deliver any documents, instruments, affidavits, certificates, and paper necessary or appropriate to such exercise or exercises,” including specifically to “sign . . . documents appropriate to effectuate the powers delegated herein.” (R. p. 159).

The underlying negligence claims in this appeal relate to Ms. Hensley’s admission to White Oak Estates in late August of 2017 for a short-term rehabilitative stay following surgical repair of a femur fracture. Five days prior to her physical transfer to White Oak Estates, while Ms. Hensley was safely hospitalized at Spartanburg Regional Medical Center, Ms. Putman executed the Arbitration Agreement, Resident and Facility Admission Agreement, and Resident Representative Agreement in her capacity as holder of the POA for Ms. Hensley. (R. p. 230 – 264). Ms. Putman had admitted her mother to White Oak Estates for care on at least three occasions since the POA was established in 2011. (R. p. 164 – 222; 230 – 264). Each time, Ms. Putman reviewed and signed the

Arbitration Agreement, Resident and Facility Admission Agreement, and Resident Representative Agreement. (R. p. 164 – 222; 230 – 264).

The Resident and Facility Admission Agreement (“Admission Agreement”) defines White Oak Estates as the “Facility” and Ms. Hensley as the “Resident.” (R. p. 235). Within the Admission Agreement, Ms. Putman, within the scope of her broad power under the POA, agreed that the Admission “Agreement, the Resident Representative Agreement, and Arbitration Agreement, and the admission documentation represent the entire Agreement and understanding between the parties...” (R. p. 250). Likewise, Ms. Putman agreed that all claims between the parties were subject to arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act (the “FAA”) and was directed to the Arbitration Agreement, which was expressly merged and incorporated by reference. (R. p. 252 – 253). Further, Ms. Putman acknowledged that Ms. Hensley’s obligations under the Admission Agreement “shall be binding upon all parties hereto and upon their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns.” (R. p. 253). Finally, Ms. Putman agreed that she had the opportunity to read the Admission Agreement, ask questions about it, and have it explained to her. (R. p. 251).

Turning to the merged Arbitration Agreement, Ms. Putman again executed this document as Ms. Hensley’s POA “for valuable consideration.” (R. p. 255, 259). She agreed that the Arbitration Agreement would be governed by the FAA. (R. p. 255). The Arbitration Agreement also expressly merged by its own language with the Admission Agreement, reiterating that it “shall be considered” along and together with the Admission Agreement (R. p. 258). Likewise, the Arbitration Agreement noted that all claims between Ms. Hensley, her heirs and beneficiaries, White Oak Estates, and all other

White Oak entities would be subject to binding arbitration. (R. p. 255). These terms were clear, express, and included several areas for Ms. Putman to initial within the document to express her understanding.

Next, Ms. Putman agreed to the process for arbitration, including selection of arbitrators, discovery, and the arbitration hearing. (R. p. 255 – 257). She also agreed that the Arbitration Agreement had been explained to her, that she had the right to seek legal counsel before signing the Arbitration Agreement, that she had thirty days to opt out of the Arbitration Agreement, and that she freely and voluntarily executed the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 257, 259). Ms. Putman also again agreed that the decision to arbitrate would be binding on Ms. Hensley and her heirs, beneficiaries, successors, and assigns. (R. p. 258 – 259).

Karen Baker, an employee of White Oak Estates, was authorized to and did execute the merged agreements on behalf of White Oak Estates. (R. p. 92).

Based on the merged Admission Agreement, Ms. Hensley was admitted to White Oak Estates and received skilled nursing care until her discharge on September 23, 2017.

ARGUMENTS

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY THE RIGOROUS STANDARDS REQUIRED IN FAVOR OF THE VALIDITY OF ARBITRATION AGREEMENTS.

Federal and South Carolina law expressly favors arbitrating disputes. See O'Neil v. Hilton Head Hosp., 115 F.3d 272, 273 (4th Cir. 1997) (“The FAA embodies a strong federal policy in favor of arbitration, and, accordingly, there is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of arbitration agreements.”); Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014)(holding that courts may not refuse to compel

arbitration simply because a wrongful death claim is involved); Toler's Cove Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Trident Const. Co., 355 S.C. 605, 612, 586 S.E.2d 581, 585 (2003) (“[i]t is the policy of this state to favor arbitration of disputes.”).

For this reason, both Federal and South Carolina courts have held that any doubts over arbitrability should be resolved in favor of compelling arbitration. See Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24–25 (1983) (“The Arbitration Act establishes that, as a matter of federal law, any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability.”); Towles v. United HealthCare Corp., 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999) (“[A]ny doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability.”).

Arbitration is a matter of contract, and evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration agreement is guided by general principles of contract law. Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc., 383 S.C. 125, 678 S.E.2d 435 (2009); Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001). A written agreement to submit a controversy to arbitration is valid, enforceable, and irrevocable, except upon such grounds as exist for the revocation of any contract. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). “Although the intention of parties is relevant, as a matter of policy, arbitration agreements are liberally construed in favor of arbitrability.” Landers v. Federal Deposit Ins. Corp., 402 S.C. 100, 108-109, 739 S.E.2d

209, 213 (2013), citing American Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc., 96 F.3d 88, 94 (4th Cir. 1996).

The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) will preempt any state law that completely invalidates the parties’ agreement to arbitrate. The basic purpose of the FAA is to ensure that arbitration will proceed in the event that a state law would have a preclusive effect on an otherwise valid arbitration agreement. Accordingly, any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001); Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014). A motion to compel arbitration made pursuant to an arbitration clause in a written contract should only be denied where the clause is not susceptible to any interpretation which would cover the asserted dispute. Zabinski, 346 S.C. at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118–119.

The necessary elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and consideration. Arbitration rests on the agreement of the parties, and the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted only by the terms of the agreement. To decide whether an arbitration agreement encompasses a dispute, a court must determine whether the factual allegations underlying the claim are within the scope of the broad arbitration clause, regardless of the label assigned to the claim. Any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596-597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001).

Further, the Supreme Court in Kindred Nursing Centers Ltd. Partnership v. Clark, 137 S. Ct. 1421, 1428-1429 (2017) expressly addressed the distinction between “contract formation” and “contract enforcement,” rejecting the argument that the FAA applied to

the latter and not the former. The Court held that “[b]oth the FAA’s text and our case law interpreting it say otherwise. The Act’s key provision, once again, states that an arbitration agreement must ordinarily be treated as ‘valid, irrevocable, and enforceable.’ By its terms, then, the Act cares not only about the ‘enforce[ment]’ of arbitration agreements, but also about their initial ‘valid[ity]’ – that is, about what it takes to enter into them. Or said otherwise: A rule selectively finding arbitration contracts invalid because improperly formed fares no better under the Act than a rule selectively refusing to enforce those agreement once properly made. Precedent confirms that point. In [AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion], we noted the impermissibility of applying a contract defense like duress ‘in a fashion that disfavors arbitration.’ 563 U.S. at 341 . . . But the doctrine of duress, as we have elsewhere explained, involves ‘unfair dealing at the contract formation stage.’ [citations omitted] Our discussion of duress would have made no sense if the FAA, as the respondents contend, had nothing to say about contract formation.” Id. at 1428.

The court failed to properly apply these interpretive mandates of the FAA, 9 U.S.C. § 2, et seq., in determining that the Arbitration Agreement was not enforceable.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE ADMISSION AGREEMENT AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT DID NOT MERGE; BUT EVEN IF THEY DID NOT, VALUABLE CONSIDERATION SUPPORTS THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT.

The Admission and Arbitration Agreements expressly merge. Ms. Putman expressly agreed within the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement that those agreements constituted the entirety of the agreement between the parties, were to be considered together, and were incorporated within each other. (R. p. Admission Agreement, p. 250, 252 – 253; 258). Even if this were not the case, the merged Admission

and Arbitration Agreements would still be construed together because they relate to the same subject matter - Ms. Hensley's admission to and care at White Oak Estates. See, e.g., Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 232 S.E.2d 20 (1977) (holding that courts in South Carolina construe contemporaneous instruments together; if there are any provisions in one instrument limiting, explaining, or otherwise affecting the provisions of another, they will be given effect between the parties so that the whole agreement as actually made may be effectuated.); Plaza Dev. Serv. v. Joe Hardin Builder, Inc., 294 S.C. 430, 365 S.E.2d 231 (Ct. App. 1988) (Even when instruments are entered into by the same parties at different times but relate to the same subject matter, the instruments will be construed together to determine the entire agreement between the parties.)

However, even if the Admission and Arbitration Agreements did not merge, the Arbitration Agreement stands as a separately enforceable agreement that meets all the elements of proper contract formation.

Ms. Hensley executed an October 7, 2011 Durable Power of Attorney naming Plaintiff her agent. Through the POA, Ms. Hensley gave her daughter Terry Putman the broadest lawful powers available to an agent, and specifically authorized her to agree to arbitration, provide places for residential and health care, employ health care personnel, and arrange for hospitalizations and similar care. (R. p. 151 – 152, 156 – 158). Likewise, Ms. Hensley specifically authorized Ms. Putman to bind Ms. Hensley, her estate, and her personal representative. (R. p. 162).

Against this backdrop, White Oak Estates presented Ms. Putman with the Admission and Arbitration Agreements, which offered Ms. Hensley inpatient nursing

care and related services. Even for non-signatories, admission can serve as the direct benefit that supports arbitration where the admission and arbitration are governed by the same agreement as they are in these cases. See, e.g., Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, 422 S.C. 544, 558, 813 S.E.2d 292, 299–300 (Ct. App. 2018) (“Restated, when a signatory seeks to enforce an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory, the doctrine prevents the nonsignatory from averring he or she is not bound to the arbitration agreement when he or she receives a direct benefit from a contract that contains an arbitration clause.”)

Even beyond the offering of admission, the Admission and Arbitration Agreements expressly acknowledged that “valuable consideration” was given for the agreement to bind Ms. Hensley, her heirs, and her beneficiaries to arbitration. (R. p. 255). See South Carolina Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enterprises of Mt. Pleasant, LLC, 379 S.C. 645, 655, 667 S.E.2d 7, 13 (Ct. App. 2008) (“When a contract is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used, to be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense.”). This consideration included, but was not limited to, a quicker resolution of the claims; the ability to choose any individual to represent the resident/claimant at the arbitration (or to represent oneself), thereby avoiding attorneys’ fees; relaxed standards for presentation of evidence; the ability to choose an arbitrator; and payment within ninety days of an arbitration award being made (R. p. 255 – 257). See, e.g., AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 344–45 (2011) (“The point of affording parties discretion in designing arbitration processes is to allow for efficient, streamlined procedures tailored to the type of dispute.... And the informality of arbitral proceedings is itself desirable, reducing the cost and

increasing the speed of dispute resolution.”)

In exchange for this valuable consideration, Ms. Putman agreed that Ms. Hensley would pay for the services provided to her and that Ms. Hensley, her personal representative, her heirs, and her beneficiaries would engage in arbitration to settle any disputes (R. p. 236, 252 – 253; 255). Ms. Putman, as Ms. Hensley’s lawfully empowered agent, freely and voluntarily accepted the offer by executing the Agreements, which expressly reminded her – and required her initials on such reminder - of the opportunity to engage counsel, her ability to ask questions, her ability to have the Agreements explained, and her ability to withdraw her agreement to arbitration within thirty days. (R. p. 251; 257, 259).

The Arbitration Agreement, by its plain language, specifically said that binding arbitration would be required for all claims between Ms. Hensley, her heirs, her beneficiaries, White Oak Estates, White Oak Manor, Inc. and White Oak Management, Inc. (R. p. 255 – 259), those being the exact type of claims now raised in the above-captioned actions. The Arbitration Agreement also provided a clear framework for arbitration, including the selection of arbitrators, discovery, and the arbitration hearing (R. p. 255 – 257). A duly authorized White Oak Estates employee executed the document on behalf of White Oak Estates (R. p. 91 – 92). Finally, though she had the option, Ms. Putman did not withdraw her agreement to arbitrate. (R. p. 130).

Just as any other competent adult entering a contract, Ms. Hensley, her heirs, her successors, and her assigns are held to the terms of the Admission and Arbitration Agreements (whether they are merged or not). See J.B. Colt Co. v. Britt, 129 S.C. 226, 123 S.E. 845, 847 (1924) (a person who enters a valid contract is, “of course, bound by the

terms and conditions thereof”); Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 663, 582 S.E.2d 432, 440 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A person signing a document is responsible for reading the document and making sure of its contents. Every contracting party owes a duty to the other party to the contract and to the public to learn the contents of a document before he signs it.”); Maw v. McAlister, 252 S.C. 280, 285, 166 S.E.2d 203, 205 (1969) (“The duty on the part of one who signs a written instrument to exercise reasonable care to protect himself requires that he read the contract which he signs....”).

In summary, the Arbitration Agreement contains express consideration favorable to Ms. Putman and Ms. Hensley, including, but not limited to:

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