THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 25 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000681

---

Terry Putman, Individually and as ..... Respondent  
Personal Representative of the Estate  
of Margaret Hensley

v.

White Oak Estates, Inc.; White Oak  
Management, Inc.; and White Oak  
Manor, Inc. .... Appellants.

---

**RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

Matthew W. Christian  
Christian & Christian  
P.O. Box 332  
Greenville, SC 29602  
(864) 232-7363

Jordan C. Calloway  
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC  
1539 Health Care Drive

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

(2001) (applying this principle to “the range of issues that can be arbitrated”). Here, the issue is more fundamental. Respondent does not dispute that her claims would be covered by the Arbitration Agreement’s scope. Instead, Respondent’s position is that no valid arbitration agreement exists between Ms. Hensley and any of the Appellants.

These are contract formation issues, and the FAA expressly reserves them to arbitration-neutral state contract law. 9 U.S.C. § 2 (arbitration agreement may be invalidated “upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract”); Goldberg v. C.B. Richard Ellis, Inc., Civil Action No. 4:11-cv-02237, 2011 WL 6817908 \*2 (D.S.C. Dec. 28, 2011) (finding FAA “does not displace state law on the general principles governing formation of the contract itself”); Lawrence v. Blue World Pools, Inc., C.A. No. 8:11-1099-JFA, 2011 WL 2491367 \*2 (D.S.C. June 22, 2011) (“whether a party agreed to arbitrate a particular dispute is a question of state law governing contract formation”).<sup>1</sup> The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that the presumption in favor of arbitration is limited to the scope of arbitrable issues and does not apply to either the existence of a valid arbitration agreement or the individuals or entities bound by an arbitration contract. Wilson, 426 S.C. at 337, 27 S.E.2d at 173 (quoting Carr v. Main Carr Dev., LLC, 337 S.W.3d 489, 496 (Tex. App. 2011)). In fact, when the party opposing arbitration is a non-signatory, there is a presumption against arbitration. Wilson, 426 S.C. at 337-38, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (citing Global Pac., LLC v. Kirkpatrick, 88 N.E.3d 431, 435 (Ohio App. 2017)). This Court also cautions against reflexive citations to FAA policy in contract formation disputes. Weaver v.

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellants are correct that the FAA applies to contract formation questions arising from disputed arbitration agreements. Appellants’ Br. at 8 (citing Kindred Nursing Ctrs. Ltd. P’ship v. Clark, 137 S.Ct. 1421, 1428-29 (2017)). However, that does not mean courts presume a purported arbitration contract was properly formed. Kindred held only that states may not target arbitration with “rule[s] selectively finding arbitration contracts invalid.” 137 S.Ct. at 1428. Generally applicable contract formation defenses remain fully available when the would-be contract concerns arbitration.

Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., 431 S.C. 223, 229, 847 S.E.2d 268, 271 (Ct. App. 2020) (“The [pro-arbitration] policy does not kick in until the court determines a valid agreement to arbitrate exists”).

As the litigation parties seeking arbitration, Appellants bore the burden of proving they entered a valid arbitration contract with Ms. Hensley and her estate. Appellants were entitled to no presumptions on this point, and federal pro-arbitration policy does not decide the issue. The circuit court properly applied South Carolina contract formation law and precedent to deny Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration.

**2. The Circuit Court Correctly Determined the Arbitration Agreement is Unconscionable.**

The circuit court found the circumstances surrounding the Arbitration Agreement’s presentation and the inequities in its terms met South Carolina’s two-pronged test to declare the contract unconscionable. (Order at 9-15). Appellants never cite this test and instead focus on two arguments. First, Appellants suggest the Arbitration Agreement was not an adhesion contract. (Appellants’ Br. at 13, 15). Second, Appellants contend the Arbitration Agreement’s terms are reasonable under federal law. (Appellants’ Br. at 16).<sup>2</sup> Both of these arguments are mistaken, and the circuit court’s ruling should be affirmed.

Under South Carolina law, unconscionability is “the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 24-25, 644 S.E.2d 663, 668 (2007) (quoting Carolina Care Plan, Inc. United HealthCare Servs., Inc., 361 S.C. 544, 554, 606 S.E.2d 752, 757

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellants cite 42 U.S.C. § 483, but, since there is no such section in the U.S. Code, it appears Appellants intended to reference provisions within the Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services regulation codified as 42 C.F.R. § 483.

(2004)). The “absence of meaningful choice” element “speaks to the fundamental fairness of the bargaining process.” Simpson, 3873 S.C. at 25, 664 S.E.2d at 669. The key factors on this element include (1) the nature of the injuries suffered by the plaintiff; (2) whether the plaintiff is a substantial business concern; (3) the relative disparity in the parties’ bargaining power; (4) the parties’ relative sophistication; (5) whether there is an element of surprise in the inclusion of the challenged clause; and (6) the conspicuousness of the arbitration clause. Id. (citing Carlson v. Gen. Motors Corp., 883 F.2d 287, 293 (4th Cir. 1989)).

Identifying a document as an adhesion contract is a useful starting point for analyzing these substantive factors. Simpson, 373 S.C. at 27, 644 S.E.2d at 669. Contrary to Appellants’ argument, the evidence shows the Arbitration Agreement is an adhesion contract. An adhesion contract has two defining characteristics: (1) it is presented in a standardized form; and (2) it is presented by a party with greater bargaining power to a party with lesser power on a “take-it-or-leave-it” basis—i.e. without that party’s ability to negotiate terms. Simpson, 373 S.C. at 27, 644 S.E.2d at 670 (citing Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 541, 542 S.E.2d 360, 365 (2001)). The Arbitration Agreement bears all the markers of a standard form contract. On its face, it is evident the Arbitration Agreement was not only for the Facility’s use but also for other nursing homes bearing the “White Oak” brand. The Facility’s name is stamped into a blank at the top of the Arbitration Agreement’s first page and the signature block. (Arbitration Agreement at 1, 5). Ms. Hensley’s name was also handwritten into the document. (Arbitration Agreement at 1). The evidence further shows this form contract was effectively non-negotiable. As Ms. Putman explained, the Arbitration Agreement was part of a stack of documents presented to her near the time of Ms. Hensley’s admission. (T. Putman Aff. ¶ 4). The employee who signed the Arbitration

Agreement in the Facility's name provided no indication Ms. Hensley or Ms. Putman were entitled to change the Arbitration Agreement's terms. (See generally K. Baker Aff.).

The Simpson factors also show the fundamental unfairness of the bargaining process. The first factor favors Respondent because Ms. Hensley's injuries were personal and substantial. Appellants' alleged negligence led to multiple skin breakdowns, the development of pressure ulcers, and her premature death. (Compl. ¶ 62). The other factors also favor Respondent. Ms. Putman was not a substantial business concern. She was acting only as Ms. Hensley's attorney-in-fact with the aim of obtaining the nursing care she urgently needed. In contrast, Appellants are sophisticated business entities evidenced in many ways including the complex organization structure they have built to manage the Facility's operations. See Compl. ¶¶ 5-43. The disparity in bargaining power is considerable. Appellants operate nursing homes in multiple states with annual expenses and revenues totaling millions of dollars. (Compl. ¶¶ 2-4, 36). Ms. Hensley, on the other hand, was an elderly woman in poor health in need of daily care. Finally, the key language of the Arbitration Agreement was not conspicuous relative to any of the other admission paperwork the Facility presented to Ms. Putman. Plus, the lack of conspicuousness and surprise elements relate not only to how prominently an arbitration provision is featured in a contract but also consider whether the way in which the arbitration provision is drafted imposes substantive limitations that would not be immediately apparent to an unsophisticated person. E.g. Simpson, 373 S.C. at 27-28, 644 S.E.2d at 670 (finding arbitration provision "inconspicuous . . . in light of its consequences" including the deprivation of statutory remedies).

The circuit court was also correct in finding the Arbitration Agreement contains oppressive terms. Appellants defend the Arbitration Agreement's provisions by arguing federal regulations permit pre-admission nursing home arbitration contracts. (Appellants' Br. at 16). While that is

true, the pertinent regulation also imposes strict requirements the Arbitration Agreement does not meet. 42 C.F.R. § 483.70(n) (“the facility must comply with all of the requirements” listed in the regulation). For example, the regulation required the Facility to ensure the Arbitration Agreement “provides for the selection of a neutral arbitrator agreed upon by both parties.” 42 C.F.R. § 483.70(n)(2)(iii). The Arbitration Agreement fails to meet this requirement in at least two ways. First, the arbitrator selection process does not call for arbitrators “agreed upon by both parties.” Instead, the Arbitration Agreement allows each party to appoint one arbitrator apiece with those two appointees selecting the third arbitrator. (Arbitration Agreement at 1-2 ¶¶ 4-6). Thus, rather than seeking the parties’ agreement, the Arbitration Agreement makes it very likely the arbitration panel will include at least one arbitrator each party would rather not be part of the proceedings.

Second, the Arbitration Agreement fails to meet the regulatory requirement for “selection of a *neutral* arbitrator.” By granting each party a unilateral arbitrator selection, the Arbitration Agreement encourages the parties to select an arbitrator they feel will favor their perspective on the disputed issues. The Arbitration Agreement does not even pretend this is a neutral process as it repeatedly refers to the arbitrators in non-neutral terms. (Arbitration Agreement at 2 ¶ 9; at 3 ¶ 14) (referring to each party’s appointee as “his/her/its own” arbitrator). Notably, while the third, arbitrator-selected arbitrator is required to pledge fairness and impartiality (Arbitration Agreement at 2 ¶ 6), the Arbitration Agreement requires no similar affirmation by the parties’ personally-selected arbitrators. Thus, in both of these ways, the Arbitration Agreement’s arbitrator selection process is inconsistent with the federal regulation Appellants tout.

Moreover, plenty of persuasive authority supports the circuit court’s finding that a biased arbitrator selection process can render an arbitration contract unenforceable. As the Fourth Circuit recognizes, even if a party consents to arbitration, she “do[es] not agree to forgo [her] right to have

[her] dispute fairly resolved by an impartial third party.” Murray v. United Food & Commercial Workers Union, 289 F.3d 297, 303 (4th Cir. 2002). A flawed arbitrator selection process cannot be overlooked by courts or left for the arbitrators to address. Walker v. Ryan’s Family Steak Houses, Inc., 400 F.3d 370, 385 (6th Cir. 2005) (citing McMullen v. Meijer, Inc., 355 F.3d 485, 494 n. 7 (6th Cir. 2004) (“the general rule prohibiting pre-arbitration challenges to an allegedly biased arbitration panel does not extend to an allegation that the arbitrator-selection process itself is fundamentally unfair”).

As the circuit court correctly determined, the Arbitration Agreement’s designated process for selecting the third member of the arbitration panel is not just odd, it offers one party an advantage over the other on procedural and substantive matters. (Order at 11-12). Arbitration Agreement paragraph 6 states that, in the very likely event that the parties’ hand-picked arbitrators cannot agree on a third panel member, the result of a coin toss will allow one or the other arbitrator to unilaterally select the third member. This means there is a 50% chance Respondent would enter the arbitration proceedings with a crucial two out of three arbitrators chosen unilaterally by either the Facility or the Facility’s hand-picked arbitrator<sup>3</sup>. This is an especially grave disadvantage where the votes of those two arbitrators are sufficient to rule in the Facility’s favor on everything from what discovery Respondent may conduct to what evidence she can present to who prevails

---

<sup>3</sup> The risk of a biased panel is heightened when the arbitration contract fails to impose minimum standards to ensure each party’s appointee is qualified to rule on the dispute. Walker, 400 F.3d at 387 (finding bias in arbitrator selection process “is significantly enhanced by the lack of any criteria” for the individuals eligible to serve as arbitrators such as “minimum educational requirements” and “relevant experience as an adjudicator”). The Arbitration Agreement requires only the third panel member to have a minimum level of education and experience. (Arbitration Agreement at 2 ¶ 6) (requiring third arbitrator to be an attorney and certified mediator/arbitrator, with experience in nursing home disputes). The parties’ arbitrator selections may include any non-witness without close connection to the appointing party even if the selected individual lacks any sort of relevant education or experience. (Arbitration Agreement at 1-2 ¶¶ 4-5).

on the merits of her claims. (Arbitration Agreement at 2 ¶ 10; at 3 ¶¶ 11-14). A three arbitrator selection process that is so likely to produce an unfair panel is enough to render an arbitration contract unenforceable. See Hooters of Am., Inc. v. Phillips, 173 F.3d 933, 938-39 (4th Cir. 1999).

The Arbitration Agreement also fails to meet an additional regulatory requirement. The Facility was required to draft the Arbitration Agreement to “explicitly state” Ms. Hensley and Ms. Putman were not required to sign the Arbitration Agreement to obtain Ms. Hensley’s admission to the Facility. 42 C.F.R. § 483.70(n)(4). While the Arbitration Agreement suggests someone provided this crucial information to Ms. Putman (Arbitration Agreement at 5 ¶ 24(e)), the Arbitration Agreement itself does not make that explicit statement as the regulation requires. Moreover, the circuit court made a factual finding that Ms. Putman was “required to sign” documents to secure Ms. Hensley’s admission and was not provided an explanation of the Arbitration Agreement’s terms. (Order at 10). This finding of fact must stand so long as “any evidence” supports it. Wilson, 426 S.C. at 335, 827 S.E.2d at 172. Ms. Putman provided the required evidence in her affidavit. (T. Putman Aff. ¶ 6) (“I was advised and led to believe I was required to sign the alleged arbitration agreement for [Ms.] Hensley’s admission” to the Facility). Ms. Putman’s affidavit is further supported by the Admission Agreement’s description of arbitration as “MANDATORY.” (Admission Agreement at 18-19 ¶ 21). Therefore, in violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.70(n)(4), the documents the Facility presented to Ms. Putman led her to believe the flawed Arbitration Agreement was a precondition to obtaining the nursing home care Ms. Hensley urgently needed. This undue pressure further supports the circuit court’s finding that the Arbitration Agreement is unconscionable.

By mandating arbitration to obtain admission, the Facility violated another federal law. Since the Facility receives Medicare and Medicaid reimbursements as payment for resident services, it is bound by 42 U.S.C. § 1396r(C)(5)(a)(iii) which states that a nursing home must not charge, solicit, accept or receive, in addition to any amount otherwise required to be paid under the State plan . . . any gift, money, donation, or other consideration as a precondition to admitting (or expediting the admission of) the individual to the facility or as a requirement for the individual's continued stay at the facility.

In short, the Medicare/Medicaid payment the Facility received was the only thing it was allowed to collect or to even request as a precondition to Ms. Hensley's admission. Conditioning Ms. Hensley's admission on her agreement to the flawed Arbitration Agreement described above violates this federal statute. See also (Pla. Mem. in Opp. to Def. Mot. to Dismiss at 15-17). South Carolina courts will not enforce contracts calling for illegal conduct. Ward v. West Oil Co., 387 S.C. 268, 274-75 692 S.E.2d 516, 519-20 (2010). Therefore, as an additional sustaining ground, the Court should refuse to enforce the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement's illegal arbitration terms.

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